IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH L. MAEWEATHER,

Petitioner,

VS.

CASE NO. 79,995

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

_____:

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the decision of the First District Court below, Maeweather v. State, ____ So.2d ____, 17 FLW D1431 (Fla. 1st DCA June 2, 1992). All proceedings were held in Columbia County before Circuit Judge Wallace Jopling. The record on appeal and two-volume transcripts labelled February 8 and 9, 1991, will be referred to as "R"; the sentencing transcript of February 27 will be referred to as "S."

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged petitioner, Kenneth L. Maeweather, with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (**R-77**). The state filed notice of intent to classify him **as** an habitual violent felony offender (R-95). At trial either February **8** or 9, 1991 (one volume of transcripts is labelled February **8**, one is labelled the 9th, verdict form says February 8), a jury convicted him as charged (**R-110**). February **27**, the judge sentenced Maeweather **as** an habitual violent felony offender to 20 years in prison with a 10-year mandatory minimum (R-134-37). At sentencing, the state introduced evidence of the following convictions: uttering a forged check, **1981** (R-126); shooting into an occupied dwelling, 1983 (R-116); and attempted manslaughter, display of weapon during felony and aggravated assault with a deadly weapon, **all** in one episode in **1988** (R-120).

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the judgments and sentences, Maeweather v. State, supra, but certified to this court a question similar to the one previously certified in Gayman v. State, 584 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), jurisdiction accepted Fla. no. **78,547**:

WHETHER THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSES OF THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS WERE VIOLATED BY THE TRIAL COURT'S USE OF THE **SAME** PRIOR CONVICTION **AS** THE BASIS FOR THE CHARGE OF POSSESSION OF A FIREARM BY A CONVICTED FELON AND **FOR** CLASSIFICATION OF THE APPELLANT **AS A** HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER.

The court also certified two questions previously certified in Tillman v. State, 586 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), juris-
diction accepted Fla. no. 78,715:

1. DOES IT VIOLATE A DEFENDANT'S SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WHEN HE IS CLASSIFIED AS A VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER PURSUANT TO SECTION 775.084, AND THEREBY **SUBJECTED** TO AN EXTENDED TERM OF IMPRISONMENT, IF HE HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF AN ENUMERATED FELONY WITHIN THE PREVIOUS FIVE YEARS, EVEN THOUGH HIS PRESENT OFFENSE IS A NONVIOLENT FELONY?

2. DOES SECTION 775.084(1)(B) VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTION AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY BY INCREASING A DEFENDANT'S PUNISHMENT DUE TO THE NATURE OF A PRIOR OFFENSE?

This appeal follows.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Richardson hearing. The day of trial, the court conducted a hearing on the allegation the state had failed to disclose two witnesses, Deputy Nolan and Joe Ramirez, until the day before trial. Nolan's testimony was cumulative and needs no further discussion. Ramirez' testimony was another matter. Petitioner argued, not only was Ramirez not disclosed, but also the state's theory of the case, as indicated by the evidence that was disclosed, was that Maeweather possessed the gun when he was arrested on September 9. Ramirez was not present when Maeweather was arrested and had no personal knowledge of the events of that day. Thus, his testimony was not relevant to the charge being tried (R-159).

The state conceded Ramirez' name did not appear on the discovery answer. The state argued that Deputy **Alex** Dyal mentioned Ramirez during a deposition and that constituted discovery under the rule. At deposition, Dyal detailed Ramirez' allegation that petitioner, Kenny Maeweather, had shot him in the head, The **state** argued there was no requirement the state "list a witness **per se** when that evidence has been disclosed through other means'" (R-161-62).

The state argued it could prove possession on a day other than the day of arrest. The state said Ramirez' testimony "would not be to the extent of actually proving a separate charge...but providing probable cause for the officers" to look for and arrest Maeweather, "So that would be the purpose of having his testimony, plus the fact that he would be able to

testify that the defendant was in possession of the firearm. . . . So it goes to the very, very heart of the case" (R-164-65).

Defense counsel argued the basis for the charge was a gun found in the couch where Maeweather had been laying when he was arrested, and Ramirez was not involved in the arrest. Counsel argued that, had he known Ramirez was going to testify, he would have called witnesses who were present at the scene of the alleged shooting to testify that Maeweather did not shoot Ramirez or possess a gun. Defense counsel disputed whether the alleged shooting took place (R-165-67).

The state said Ramirez would testify Maeweather had sold him the gun (R-168). Defense counsel pointed out Maeweather was not on trial for battering Ramirez, and the firearm possession being tried was based on the gun found in the couch when Maeweather was arrested at Shirlene Crusaw's house. Counsel said it would severely prejudice Maeweather's case [if he had to defend against the Ramirez allegations] (R-169-71).

The court said it was concerned about Ramirez testifying about another offense which was not on trial, and the prejudicial effect of Ramirez' testimony **as** to another alleged shooting (R-171). The state said the judge could give a curative instruction. The **state** announced the defense was going to concede that Maeweather was a convicted felon. The state said it would ask about the (shooting) incident itself. Defense counsel objected again, saying a curative instruction would not wipe away what the jury heard of the incident, with which the defendant was not charged (R-172-74).

The court found that Ramirez' name was mentioned in the deposition of the state witness in October; the defendant would have an opportunity to depose Ramirez before he testified; and, the intent of the state to call the witnesses was made known the day before trial. Therefore, the court found the state's violation was not willful but inadvertent, not substantial, and because the defense would be given an opportunity to depose Ramirez, would not have any adverse effect upon the ability of the defendant to present his case at trial (R-175).

The defense moved for a continuance to find witnesses to the shooting incident alleged by Ramirez, who would refute Ramirez' account (R-180-83). Petitioner argued that where the gun came from, in other words, Ramirez' testimony, was irrelevant to the charge that Maeweather possessed a gun when arrested. Having earlier argued it was not bound by the date on the information, the state pointed out that the date on the information is September 8; Maeweather was arrested September 9 (R-184-85).

When the defense **asked**, "are you going to allow the state to refer to and for Ramirez to testify to the incident that occurred, according to Ramirez, the night of September 8?," the court said: "Now I am going to wait and hear the questions on that and I will rule on that" (R-193-94).

Trial. Late in the afternoon of September 8, 1990, Columbia County Sheriff's Investigator Charles Tate arrested Maeweather. Tate had been looking for Maeweather and found him at a home at Hernando and Escambia Streets. This was Shirlene

Crusaw's home; Maeweather did not live there. When Tate arrived, a woman [Crusaw] let him in the apartment. Tate found Maeweather laying on his back on a couch in the living room. Maeweather's left hand was behind his head: his right hand was in the cushions of the couch. Tate drew his weapon and told Maeweather to let him see his hands, which Maeweather did. Deputy Nolan entered about this time and handcuffed Maeweather. Tate found a small, .38 revolver under the cushion where Maeweather's hand had been (R-7-8). At the jail, Tate asked where the weapon came from and Maeweather said he had got it a week before from the victim, Ramirez (R-14).

On cross, Tate denied that the woman said she would go inside the house and get Maeweather for him (R-17). Tate did not see Maeweather touch the gun, and it was not tested for fingerprints (R-19). Asked whether he told Maeweather that Ramirez had been shot in the head, Tate said yes (R-21).

Joe Ramirez testified that, on September 8, he saw Maeweather in possession of a black .38. Ramirez said Maeweather had sold him the gun earlier and then stole the gun back (R-25-27). In two unresponsive answers, Ramirez said, when Maeweather was carrying the gun, Maeweather threatened to kill him. Then, in response to the question, "did he take it [the gun] out," Ramirez said, "Yes, because I look for my gun and he say, I will kill you, mother fucker. I say, kill me" (R-30). The court permitted Ramirez' testimony concerning Maeweather's possession of the gun the day before, sustained the objection to the previous possession (when it was sold), but gave no curative

instruction, although the jury had heard evidence that **was** ruled inadmissible (R-31-32).

After the state rested, Shirlene Crusaw testified for the defense that she was at Henry Crusaw's, the bar mentioned by Ramirez, the night of September **8**. She saw Maeweather strike Ramirez. Maeweather did not have a gun then, nor at any time that evening. Maeweather spent the night at her house. She did not **see** him with **a** gun the next day, either (R-48-50).

When **Tate** came up and asked for Maeweather, Crusaw told him to wait and she would **go** call him. She **did** not give Tate permission to come in the house, but he came in right behind her. She called to Kenny down the hall. He jumped up off the sofa and stood **up** (R-51-53). **A** guy named Snake had slept on the couch the previous Friday night. She did not know who put the gun in the couch. Maeweather had hit Ramirez with a beer bottle (R-54-55).

Maeweather, testified in his own behalf. He has five felony convictions (R-59). He denied possessing the gun at the **bar**, but he did strike Ramirez that evening. When Tate **ar-**rived, his hand was not under the cushions. His hand was cut, and it **was** too sore to put under there (R-61-62).

IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The day before trial, the state disclosed for the first time that it intended to call Joe Ramirez as a witness at trial, Ramirez' testimony was irrelevant and prejudicial and should have been excluded. While the trial court conducted a Richardson inquiry, it was inadequate to protect petitioner's right to a fair trial - the court's findings were not supported by the record, and the court's failure to rule clearly on what Ramirez would be permitted to say contributed to the prejudice to Maeweather in the preparation of his defense. Thus, this cause must be reversed and remanded for new trial.

Petitioner was punished twice for the same offense by first using his status as a convicted felon to convict him of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and then using his prior convictions to sentence him as an habitual violent felony offender. This was a double jeopardy violation.

Principles of statutory construction require that an offense for which **the** state seeks an enhanced punishment as an habitual violent felony offender must be an enumerated, violent felony. The title evinces a legislative intent to require that the instant felony be a violent crime, so as to comport with the term "habitual violent felony offender." The phrase, "The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced" should be construed together with the act's title to read "The [violent enumerated] felony. , . ." This construction is consistent with the plain meaning of the word "habitual" and achieves the evident legislative intent to punish habitual violent crime

more severely. Additionally, this reading of the statute is required to avoid the constitutional defects explored below.

If the court rejects this interpretation and reaches the certified questions, both should be answered in the affirmative. Thus interpreted, the statute bears no substantial and reasonable relationship to its objective of punishing repetition of violent crime. It permits imposition of an enhanced sentence **as** an habitual violent felon upon one who has committed but **a** single violent felony. The fixation on the prior offense, for which an offender has already been punished, also renders the enhanced sentence a violation of constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy.

V ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF JOE **RAMIREZ**. FIRST, HIS TESTIMONY WAS IRRELEVANT TO THE **CHARGE BEING TRIED**; SECOND, THE STATE'S DISCOVERY VIOLATION WAS SUBSTANTIAL **AND** CAUSED PROCEDURAL PREJUDICE TO PETITIONER. THUS, ON EITHER GROUND, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING RAMIREZ TO TESTIFY.

Prior to trial, Maeweather demanded discovery pursuant to Rule 3.220, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. The demand was for, inter alia, the names and addresses of all persons known to the prosecutor to have information relevant to the offense charged (**R-87**).

The day before trial, the state disclosed for the first time to the defense **that** it intended to call two witnesses, Deputy Nolan and Joe Ramirez. The testimony of Nolan **was** cumulative and posed no problem to the defense, but the testimony of Ramirez **was** irrelevant and prejudicial and should have been suppressed. Further, while the trial court conducted a Richardson inquiry, the inquiry was inadequate to protect Maeweather's right to a fair trial, and this cause must be reversed for **new** trial. Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971).

Maeweather was charged with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. The charge was premised on a gun found in the couch on which he was laying when he was arrested. This is the **way** the offense **is** reported in the arrest affidavit and other police reports in the record (**R-85**). He **was** arrested on the basis of Joe Ramirez' allegation that Maeweather had shot him

in the head the day before. (This was apparently a minor wound.) Maeweather was not being tried for the alleged shooting of Ramirez, and in fact, it is inferable from the record that he was not charged with any offense related to the alleged shooting.

It is difficult to separate the issues of the irrelevance of Ramirez' testimony from the state's discovery violation, and the inadequacy of the Richardson inquiry, or more specifically, from the inadequacy of the court's rulings on the Richardson issue. Some of the court's findings were not supported by the record, and thus constituted an abuse of discretion, and the judge deferred ruling, and then failed to rule on, exactly what Ramirez would be permitted to say. The failure to rule was also an abuse of discretion and rendered the inquiry inadequate.

A. Relevance.

Nevertheless, the first problem was that the court admitted Ramirez' testimony despite the fact it was irrelevant. According to Ramirez, Maeweather shot him in the head at a bar on September 8. Ramirez complained to the police, and they arrested Maeweather the next day, at the home of Shirlene Crusaw. After the arrest, an officer found a gun in the cushions of the couch on which Maeweather had been laying. Defense counsel argued that Ramirez knew nothing of the events surrounding the arrest and discovery of the gun in the cushions, thus his testimony would be irrelevant to the crime charged.

In response, the state argued that Ramirez' testimony was relevant for two reasons - to explain why Maeweather was being arrested, and to prove that Maeweather possessed the gun on another occasion. **The** prosecutor argued both that the state was not bound by the date on the information, and that the information actually alleged possession on September **8**, the day of the alleged shooting and the day before the arrest (R-185).

Neither of these reasons justified the admission of Ramirez' testimony. The reason why Maeweather was being arrested was irrelevant to the charge of possession of the gun in the couch. The jury could not properly be informed of this. Such testimony would constitute evidence of an irrelevant, collateral bad act. In other words, it was Williams rule evidence. Williams v. State, 110 So.2d **654** (Fla.), cert. denied 361 U.S. **847**, 80 S.Ct. 102, **4** L.Ed.2d 86 (1959), codified **as** section 90.404(2), Fla. Stat.

Evidence of other crimes not being tried is generally inadmissible, and is allowed only when it serves certain narrow purposes. Most of these narrow purposes are defined by the Williams **rule**. The rule permits the introduction of similar fact evidence to prove a material fact in issue, such as motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake, but specifically holds such evidence inadmissible when relevant solely to prove bad character or propensity.

The use of similar fact evidence to establish a fact at issue in a criminal trial is fraught with the danger of

convicting a person not for the crime charged, but for his criminal propensities or bad character. Courts must be concerned that "the jury may choose to punish the defendant for **the** similar rather than the charged act, or the jury may infer that the defendant is an evil person inclined to violate the law." Huddleston v. United States, 485 U.S. 681, 108 S.Ct. 1496, 1499-1500, 99 L.Ed.2d 771, 780 (1988). The Florida Supreme Court has said:

There is no doubt that this admission [to prior unrelated crimes] would go far to convince [persons] of ordinary intelligence that the defendant was probably guilty of the crime charged. But, the criminal law departs from the standard of the ordinary in that it requires proof of a particular crime. **Where** evidence **has** no relevancy except as to the character and propensity of the defendant to commit the crime charged, it must be excluded.

Jackson v. State, 451 So.2d 458, 461 (Fla, 1984) (quoting with approval Paul v. State, 340 So.2d 1249, 1250 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), review denied 348 So.2d 953 (Fla. 1977)).

Otherwise admissible evidence is to be excluded if its prejudicial impact substantially outweighs its probative value. § 90.403, Fla.Stat. To limit prejudicial impact, collateral crime evidence should not be allowed to become a feature of the trial of an unrelated crime. Williams v. State, 117 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1960).

The Florida Supreme Court has said the controlling rule of admissibility is relevance, but the rule of relevance has limitations. In Bryan v. State, 533 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1988), cert.

denied 490 U.S. 1028, 109 S.Ct. 1765, 104 L.Ed.2d 200 (1989), a capital case, the court said:

The only limitations to the rule of relevancy are that the state should not be permitted to make the evidence of other crimes the feature of the trial or introduce the evidence solely for the purpose of showing bad character or propensity, in which event it would not be relevant, and such evidence, even if relevant, should not be admitted if its probative value is substantially outweighed by undue prejudice. (emphasis in original)

The facts of Bryan are very instructive in the instant case. Applying the above standard to evidence that Bryan had earlier used the murder weapon in a bank robbery, the supreme court said that, while other evidence of how Bryan came to possess the gun was admissible, "any evidence of the bank robbery ... was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice," Bryan, 533 So.2d at 747.

While the Bryan court found the evidence of the bank robbery to be harmless, the evidence here of the alleged shooting incident was not harmless. For one thing, the bank robbery in Bryan was a less serious crime than the first-degree murder being tried, while here, the allegation that Maeweather shot Ramirez in the head is much more serious, and much more prejudicial, than the status offense - possession of a firearm - being tried.

As to the state's claim that it was not limited to the date in the information: This may be true under some circumstances, but it does not give the state permission to ambush the defendant in the preparation of his defense. Petitioner

knew of the existence of Ramirez and his claim of the alleged shooting, It was not in the fact that Ramirez was unknown to him that he was misled in the preparation of his defense. Nor was it **so** much in the date that petitioner was misled. Rather, he was misled **as** to the incident being tried.

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