IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, KENNETH L. MAEWEATHER, Appellant/Defendant below, will be referred to herein as "Petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, Appellee below, will be referred to herein as "Respondent." References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Respondent is in agreement with Petitioner's statement of the case and the facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

The trial court properly admitted the testimony of Joe Ramirez where the testimony was relevant to show that Petitioner, who was on trial for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, had prior possession of the same gun, and to show the entire context of the crime at issue.

The trial court also properly determined that the State's failure to furnish Ramirez' name on its witness list was neither a willful nor substantial discovery violation and had no adverse effect upon Petitioner's ability to present his case where Ramirez' name was mentioned several times in deposition taken three months earlier, and where the defense had ample opportunity to interview him.

ISSUE II

The trial court's use of Petitioner's prior felony record to convict him of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and to sentence him as a habitual violent felony offender does not violate double jeopardy where the possession is a substantive offense and the habitual offender sentence is independent of the guilt determination. The two statutes serve different purposes and address different evils. The double jeopardy clauses present no substantive limitation on the legislature's power to prescribe multiple punishments.

- 3 -

ISSUE III

A defendant's due process rights are not violated by a habitual violent felony offender sentence even though the present offense is a nonviolent felony. <u>Ross v. State</u>, infra.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF JOE RAMIREZ (RESTATED)

The District Court of Appeal below certified two questions in this case as being of great public importance. This is not one of them. In fact, the appellate court affirmed this issue without discussion. The rules of appellate procedure do not **provide** for review of an evidentiary issue which is not in conflict with cases from other jurisdictions and which is not the subject of a certified question. Nonetheless, Petitioner **seeks** to bootstrap this issue onto the certified questions in this case and thus slip it before this Court.

Respondent recognizes that this Court may, in its discretion, choose to address this issue although Respondent represents that the issue is devoid of merit and urges this Honorable Court to decline reviewing it. Respondent feels compelled out of an abundance of caution to address the issue, however, and will proceed to do so:

Petitioner was charged with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (R 77). Subsequent to jury selection, defense counsel objected to State witness Joe Ramirez testifying because his name was not disclosed in writing, although it was provided orally prior to trial (R 165).

- 5 -

The trial court conducted a <u>Richardson</u>² hearing (R 159-175) and denied Petitioner's ore tenus motion, stating:

> court pursuant to Richards(on) The versus State at 246 So2d. 771, has conducted an inquiry concerning the admitted failure of the State to furnish the names of two proposed witnesses, Witness Ramirez and Sergeant Nolan. After hearing arguments of Counsel concerning the failure of the State furnish the names of witnesses to the to Defense, the Court finds that the names of the Witness Ramirez was mentioned several times in the deposition of a State witness taken by the defendant in October, over two months prior to the trial; that the defendant had notice of the existence of such witness and the opportunity to interview or depose him.

> The Court further finds that the Defense shall be given an opportunity to interview Mr. Ramirez and to have him deposed before he takes the stand should he so elect. As to the Witness Nolan, Counsel agreed that his testimony will be only corroborated or cumulative to other testimony which will be received and that the defendant was made known of the intent of the State to call these two witnesses the day prior to the trial. Therefore, upon the Court further finds that the State's violation was not willful but inadvertent, that it was not substantial and that with the opportunity of the Defense Counsel to interview Witness Ramirez being afforded him at this time, that it will not -- that it does not have any adverse effect upon the ability of the defendant to properly present his **case** at the trial.

(R 174, 175).

1 Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971).

Petitioner's firearm possession charge was premised upon a gun found in the couch on which he was laying when he was arrested. The arrest was based on Joe Ramirez' allegation that Petitioner had shot him in the head the day before, but Petitioner was not on trial for the shooting, nor did Ramirez testify about the shooting (R 24-33).

Petitioner contends that the testimony was irrelevant and that the evidence should have been excluded on the basis of the discovery violation. Respondent disagrees.

Petitioner claims that Ramirez' testimony that Petitioner possessed the qun in question at another location less than 24 hours prior to the instant charge could have no relevancy to the separate instance of possession for which he was charged. Petitioner is incorrect in his assertion. Instances of prior possession of a firearm have been upheld as relevant to the separate instance of possession charged. In United States v. Donofrio, 450 F.2d 1054 (5th Cir. 1971), a prior instance of possession was held relevant and admissible. The prior possession was relevant to show that the defendant had knowledge of the presence of the firearm and the ability to acquire actual possession of the firearm where the charge was constructive possession and the prosecution had to prove both knowledge and the ability to exercise dominion and control over the firearm.

- 7 -

Similarly, in this case, Petitioner was charged with owning or having in his "care, custody, possession or control" the firearm in question. Accordingly, the exercise of actual control over the firearm hours before the incident charged was very relevant to show knowledge of the presence of the firearm under the cushions on which Petitioner lay. The prior possession was also relevant to show his ability to exercise actual possession and control over the firearm.

In addition, the earlier incident was also relevant to show the entire context of the crime at issue. The prior possession was part of an inseparable crime. Evidence of collateral crimes is admissible where those crimes are so "inextricably intertwined with the crimes charged that an intelligent account of the criminal episode" charged could not be given without reference to the other. <u>Austin v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 262, 265 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), *rev. denied*, 508 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1987). See also <u>Erickson v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 238 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

In <u>Erickson</u>, the defendant was charged with indecent assault on a child under sixteen. The assault occurred at a picnic attended by several young children and their parents. At trial, in addition to the testimony regarding the specific offense charged, there was also testimony relating to another similar assault on another child. The <u>Erickson</u> court held that the testimony concerning the second assault was admissible because it was inseparably linked in time and circumstance to the evidence of the acts charged.

- 8 -

Here, the instance of possession at the time of arrest occurred an the afternoon after the instance of possession to which Ramirez testified. In addition, Petitioner was found in possession of the firearm in the same location that he had been since leaving the bar where he had been seen with the firearm by Ramirez. Moreover, the sole reason Petitioner was found with the firearm, was that the arresting officers were in the process of investigating an allegation of aggravated battery with a firearm upon Ramirez when the firearm was discovered. As in <u>Austin</u>, there could have been no intelligent account of the arrest and discovery of the weapon given without reference to the incident in the bar.

This Court recently held that:

considerable leeway is allowed even on direct examination for proof of facts that do not bear directly on the purely legal issues, but merely fill in the background of the narrative and give it interest, color, and lifelikeness.

<u>Gillion v. State</u>, 573 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1991). Here, the evidence of the earlier possession was relevant to show not only knowledge of and ability to control the firearm, but also to fill in the background of the entire event and explain the presence of the law enforcement officers at the residence where Petitioner was arrested.

The testimony that Petitioner had previously possessed \underline{the} <u>same qun</u> that he was arrested with also relevant to rebut

- 9 -

defense witness Shirlene Crusaw's subsequent testimony that "a guy named Snake" had slept on the couch the previous Friday and may have left the gun there (R 54).

Petitioner further contends that testimony of the reason that he was arrested constituted inadmissible collateral crime evidence. The record of the trial shows, however, that no objection was made on this ground and the only objections made were on the ground of relevancy (R 26, 31).

In <u>Correll v. State</u>, 523 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1988), <u>cert.</u> <u>den.</u>, 488 US 871 (1988), this Court unanimously held that even when a prior motion in limine has been denied, the failure to object at the time that collateral crime evidence is introduced at trial waives the issue for appellate review. As no objection was made on this ground, it was not preserved for further review, and the appellate court properly refused to address it.²

In fact, the State never introduced evidence of the collateral shooting. The only evidence in that regard was elicited by defense counsel prior to Ramirez' testimony when cross-examining Officer Tate (R 21). A defendant may not take advantage on appeal of an error which he himself induced. <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, **303** So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974).

² Respondent would note that preservation of this ground was argued below.

Finally, Petitioner argues that the <u>Richardson</u> hearing conducted in this case was inadequate. <u>Richardson</u>, *supra*, provides that in the event that the State fails to provide the name of a witness in a timely fashion, that the trial court is to inquire as to:

> whether the state's violation was inadvertent or willful; whether the violation was trivial or substantial; and most importantly, what effect, if any, did it have upon the ability of the defendant to properly prepare for trial.

Id. at 775. Absent an abuse of discretion, the trial court's determination of the prejudice to the defense will not be disturbed on appeal. <u>Hatcher v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 472 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), and <u>Smith v. State</u>, 499 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1st **DCA** 1986).

In this case, the trial court heard argument and testimony that the defense had knowledge of the existence and potential testimony of the witness for more than two months prior to his being listed by the State as a witness. Based upon the information revealed in the inquiry the trial court found that the witness Ramirez had been known to the defense more than two months prior to the trial, that the defense had opportunity to interview or depose Ramirez prior to trial, and that the defense would be given an opportunity to depose Ramirez after the inquiry and prior to trial. The trial court further found that the State's "violation" was not willful but inadvertent, that

- 11 -

the "violation" was not substantial, and that because defense counsel was to be given an opportunity to depose Ramirez prior to trial, that the inadvertent "violation" did not have an adverse affect upon the ability of the defense to prepare for trial. Petitioner claims that those findings were not supported by the record and thus constituted an abuse of the court's discretion.

As to the willfulness of the violation, Petitioner correctly concedes that the State honestly believed that it had properly disclosed Ramirez' name to the defense through Deputy Dyal's deposition (R 161). The violation was, therefore, not willful.

As to the prejudicial effect, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the late official notice, as he had actual notice of Ramirez' existence more than two months earlier. In addition, Petitioner also claims that the trial court's conclusions that the violation was not substantial and that there was no adverse effect upon the defense's ability to present its **case** were without basis in the record. Relying on <u>Hatcher v. State</u>, *supra*, Petitioner claims that the use of Ramirez as a witness changed the State's theory of the case, so that the opportunity to depose Ramirez was not sufficient to cure the prejudice **created**.

Petitioner's reliance on <u>Hatcher</u>, however, is misplaced. In <u>Hatcher</u> the State revealed a new witness on rebuttal which changed the prosecution's theory regarding the defendant's knowledge of the accident at issue. In that case the defendant was clearly prejudiced as the defense had been totally unaware of the existence of the rebuttal witness, and more importantly, had no opportunity to rebut the claims of the new witness since the defense had already rested its case. The <u>Hatcher</u> Court stated:

the procedural prejudice in the state's alteration of the theory of its case after the defendant has testified and the defense has rested is inherent.

Id. at 474, 475.

Here, Ramirez and his involvement in the case were known to the defense months before trial, the defense was given a specific opportunity to depose Ramirez before trial, and the purposes for using Ramirez as a witness were known before the Moreover, Petitioner's assertion that deposition trial began. of the witness was inadequate was proven false by Petitioner's In his defense, direct examination of his own witnesses. Petitioner called two witnesses, himself and Shirlene Crusaw. Crusaw contradicted Ramirez' testimony that Both he and Petitioner possessed the gun at the bar. Therefore, even if using Ramirez did alter the State's case, Petitioner was able to use the deposition in presentation of his defense to rebut Ramirez' testimony. The trial court was correct in concluding that the deposition would cure the discovery violation.

Petitioner's reliance on <u>Copeland v. State</u>, 566 So.2d 856 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), and <u>Jones v. State</u>, 514 So.2d 432 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), is likewise misplaced. Unlike the trial court here, the trial court in <u>Copeland</u> failed to hold any <u>Richardson</u> inquiry. Also unlike the case at bar, the inquiry held by the trial court in <u>Jones</u> was clearly inadequate as that court made no finding of willfulness or prejudice where the factual scenario indicated otherwise. Here, the inquiry was held, and the appropriate findings made which were based on information revealed at the inquiry.

Accordingly, as the trial court did make a proper inquiry as to the prejudice of the alleged late notice of witness Ramirez, as the findings were supported by the record and did not constitute an abuse of the trial court's discretion, and as the testimony presented was relevant to a fact at issue, the trial court did not err in allowing witness Ramirez to testify,

Petitioner's conviction must consequently be upheld.

issue II

WHETHER THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSES OF THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS WERE VIOLATED BY THE TRIAL COURT'S USE OF THE SAME PRIOR CONVICTION AS THE BASIS FOR THE CHARGE OF POSSESSION OF A FIREARM BY A CONVICTED FELON AND FOR CLASSIFICATION OF THE APPELLANT AS A HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER.

AND 775,084(1)(B) DOES SECTION VIOLATE THE PROTECTION AGAINST CONSTITUTIONAL DOUBLE JEOPARDY ΒY INCREASING Α DEFENDANT 'S PUNISHMENT DUE TO THE NATURE OF THE PRIOR OFFENSE?

Petitioner contends that the trial court's use of his prior felony record to convict him of possession a firearm by a convicted felon and to sentence him to an extended term as a habitual violent felony offender violates the the constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy. The appellate court rejected this contention but nonetheless certified the above questions as ones of great public importance. Respondent urges this Honorable Court to answer the certified questions in the negative.

In <u>Eutsey v. State</u>, **383** So.2d 219, 223, (Fla. 1980), this Court discussed the purpose of the habitual offender statue:

> The purpose of the habitual offender act is to allow enhanced penalties for those defendants who meet quidelines objective indicating recidivism. The enhanced punishment, however, is anly an incident to the last offense. The act does not create a new substantive offense. Ιt merely prescribes longer sentence for the а

> > - 15 -

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